4. In the interest of judicial economy the State wishes to adopt its brief in State v. Washington as its brief herein.

**WHEREFORE**, the State respectfully requests that this Court grant the instant motion and permit the State to adopt its brief in State v. Washington, as its brief herein.

Respectfully submitted,

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH  
Attorney General

*Marc E. Brandes*

---

**MARC E. BRANDES**  
Florida Bar No. 0866423  
Assistant Attorney General  
Department of Legal Affairs  
Ruth Bryan Owen Rohde Building  
401 N. W. 2nd Avenue (N921)  
P.O. Box 013241  
Miami, Florida 33101  
(305) 377-5441

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

## INTRODUCTION

The Petitioner the State of Florida, was the Appellee in the District Court of Florida, Third District. The Respondent Lem Adam Washington, was the Appellant below. The parties will be referred to as they stand before this court. The symbol "A" will designate the appendix brief; the symbol "R" will designate the record on appeal and the symbol "T" will designate the transcript of proceedings.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent was charged with armed robbery, and after a jury trial he was convicted as charged (A-1). After appropriately finding that Respondent was a habitual violent felony offender, the trial court sentenced him to an extended term of life imprisonment without eligibility for release for fifteen years (A.3). The Third District held that sentencing under section 775.084(4)(b)(i) is not mandatory and that a trial court is free to fashion a sentence in excess of the guidelines but below the level enumerated in the statute. This sentence does not have to be justified, with reasons, as a departure from the guidelines. (A-3). The Third District then remanded for resentencing because certain comments of the trial court indicated that it thought sentencing was mandatory.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A trial court initially has the discretion to determine whether to sentence a defendant under the habitual offender statute, section 775.084, Florida Statute (Supp. 1988). If the trial court decides that such a sentence is proper, regardless of whether a defendant is a habitual felony offender or a habitual violent felony offender, the trial court is required to impose the sentence in conformity with sections 775.084(4)(a) and 775.084(4)(b). In the context of the entire amended statute, the "shall" of (4)(a) and the "may" of (4)(b) must be given an obligatory meaning.

POINT INVOLVED ON APPEAL

WHETHER THE SENTENCES ENUMERATED UNDER SECTION 775.084(4)(a) FOR HABITUAL FELONY OFFENDERS AND THE SENTENCES ENUMERATED UNDER SECTION 775.084(4)(b) FOR HABITUAL VIOLENT FELONY OFFENDERS ARE MANDATORY WHEN THE TRIAL COURT HAS FOUND THE DEFENDANT TO BE EITHER A HABITUAL FELONY OFFENDER OR A HABITUAL VIOLENT FELONY OFFENDER AND WHEN THE TRIAL COURT HAS DETERMINED THAT IMPOSITION OF SENTENCE UNDER THE HABITUAL OFFENDER STATUTE, AND NOT PURSUANT TO THE SENTENCING GUIDELINES, IS NECESSARY FOR THE PROTECTION OF THE PUBLIC.

ARGUMENT

THE SENTENCES ENUMERATED UNDER SECTION 775.084(4)(a) FOR HABITUAL FELONY OFFENDERS AND THE SENTENCES ENUMERATED UNDER SECTION 775.084(4)(b) FOR HABITUAL VIOLENT FELONY OFFENDERS ARE MANDATORY WHEN THE TRIAL COURT HAS FOUND THE DEFENDANT TO BE EITHER A HABITUAL FELONY OFFENDER OR A HABITUAL VIOLENT FELONY OFFENDER AND WHEN THE TRIAL COURT HAS DETERMINED THAT IMPOSITION OF SENTENCE UNDER THE HABITUAL OFFENDER STATUTES, AND NOT PURSUANT TO THE SENTENCING GUIDELINES, IS NECESSARY FOR THE PROTECTION OF THE PUBLIC.

This Court in Whitehead v. State, 498 So.2d 863 (Fla. 1986) and Winters v. State, 522 So.2d 816 (Fla. 1988), held that the enactment of section 921.001, Florida Statutes (1985) implicitly repealed section 775.084, Florida Statutes (1985). Accordingly, a habitual offender sentence could only be imposed if there were valid reasons to depart from the sentencing guidelines and the fact that the defendant was a habitual offender was not a valid reason for departure. In State v. Brown, 530 So.2d 51 (Fla. 1988) this Court applied the foregoing holdings to section 775.084(4)(a)(1), Florida Statutes (1985). This Court held the said section, which states that the court shall sentence a habitual offender in the case of a felony of the first degree to life, was "implicitly repealed by the enactment of section 921.001, Florida Statutes (1985), to the extent that the former may be construed as requiring a mandatory life penalty."

Id. at 53. (Emphasis in original.) This Court held that section 775.84(4)(a)(1) still was viable within the gambit of the guidelines. Said section could be used by the trial court as the maximum sentence authorized by law and a departure sentence could be entered anywhere about the recommended range to the maximum, as long as valid reasons were given. Once again it was disclaimed that habitual offender status itself was not a valid reason.

In response to and to overrule the foregoing decisions, the legislature amended the habitual offender statute, section 775.084, Florida Statute (Supp. 1988). The relevant portion of the amended statute section 775.084(4) states:

(4)(a) The court, in conformity with the procedure established in subsection (3), shall sentence the habitual felony offender as follows:

1. In the case of a felony of the first degree, for life.

2. In the case of a felony of the second degree, for a term of years not exceeding 30.

3. In the case of a felony of the third degree, for a term of years not exceeding 10.

(b). The court, in conformity with the procedure established in subsection (3), may sentence the habitual violent felony offender as follows:

1. In the case of a felony of the first degree, for life, and such offender shall not be eligible for release for 15 years.

2. In the case of a felony of the second degree, for a term of years not exceeding 30, and such offender shall not be eligible for release for 10 years.

3. In the case of a felony of the third degree, for a term of years not exceeding 10, and such offender shall not be eligible for release for 5 years.

(c) If the court decides that imposition of sentence under this section is not necessary for the protection of the public, sentence shall be imposed without regard to this section. At any time when it appears to the court that the defendant is a habitual felony offender or a habitual violent felony offender, the court shall make that determination as provided in subsection (3).

(d) A sentence imposed under this section shall not be increased after such imposition.

(e) A sentence imposed under this section shall not be subject to the provisions of s.921.001. The provisions of chapter 947 shall not be applied to such person. A defendant sentenced under this section shall not be eligible for gain-time granted by the Department of Corrections except that the department may grant up to 20 days of incentive gain-time each month as provided for in s.944.275(4)(b).

The statute continues the practice, pursuant to (4)(1) that upon proper notice and sufficient proof, the trial court must determine that the defendant is a habitual offender. This is a non-discretionary determination and only after it is made does the actual sentencing aspects of the statute become operable. Upon finding a defendant to be a habitual offender, section (4)(1) requires the trial court to exercise its discretion by determining if a habitual sentence will be imposed. The trial court after finding that the protection of the public



would not be served by a habitual offender sentence, can sentence without regard to this section. This finding then allows the trial court, in the exercise of its discretion, to sentence the defendant under the sentencing guidelines and to depart from the guidelines, either upward or downward, as long as a valid reasons are given. Upon exercising its discretion and finding that the protection of the public would be served by a habitual offender sentence, the trial court, pursuant to (4)(e) is not longer bound by the sentencing guidelines. The trial court is then bound by the mandatory sentence contained in sections (4)(a) and (4)(b).

The foregoing interpretation was first recognized and accepted in Donald v. State, 562 So.2d 792 (Fla. 1 DCA 1990), review denied, 576 So.2d 291 (Fla. 1991). In Donald, the court found that the "shall" of section (4)(a) and the "may" of section (4)(b) were both obligatory. These findings were based on the proper statutory construction by examining the context which the words were used and the legislative intent. See S.R. v. State, 346 So.2d 1018 (Fla. 1977). The court found both "shall" and "may" to be obligatory and held that "[o]nce the court decides, however, to sentence a defendant as a habitual felony offender or habitual violent felony offender, then the court is required to impose a sentence in conformity with sections 775.084(4)(a) or 775.084(4)(b), Id. at 795. The Second District has also accepted this interpretation State v. Allen, 573 So.2d 170 (Fla. 1 DCA 1991).

This is the most reasonable interpretation of the amended statute. The trial court, simply by finding that the protection of the public does not warrant a habitual offender sentence, may fashion any sentence it wishes, as long as said sentence does not violate the sentencing guidelines. Such sentences may include sentences below the guidelines; sentences within the recommended range; sentences within the permitted range; guideline sentences with periods of probations as long as the total sentence does not exceed the statutory maximum; and sentence above the guidelines as long as they are supported by valid reasons. The trial court, by finding that the protection of the public warrants a habitual offender statute, then submits to the will of the legislature and must impose without deviation, the sentences listed in (4)(a) and (4)(b).

The Third District, in the instant case, disagreed with the foregoing legal analysis. Without giving any thought to the fact that the amended statute can operate outside of the guidelines, the Third District relied on this Court's preamendment decision of State v. Brown, supra for sole support that the sentences in (4)(a) and (4)(b) are not mandatory. The court acknowledged conflict with State v. Donald, supra, and also noted that Donald did not cite to Brown. Smith v. State, 574 So.2d 1195 (Fla. 3 DCA 1991).

In Henry v. State, 16 FLW D1545 (Fla. 3 DCA June 11, 1991); the Third District finally gave analytical support to its holding in Smith.

The State argues that the 1988 and 1989 amendments to the habitual offender statute undercut *Brown* on the point at issue here. See ch. 89-280, §1, Laws of Fla.; ch. 88-131 §6, Laws of Fla. We disagree. *Brown* was announced after adjournment of the 1988 legislature. See 1988 Laws of Fla., at i. While the 1988 legislation made several substantive changes in the habitual offender statute, the legislation did not address the "shall sentence" provision of the habitual offender statute. In 1989, after *Brown* had been announced, the legislature amended another part of the habitual offender statute but reenacted paragraph 775.084(4)(a)-the "shall sentence" provision-without change. Under ordinary principles of statutory construction, that is at least some indication that the legislature approved of the *Brown* court's construction of the unchanged part of the statute. See *Davies v. Bossert*, 449 So.2d 418, 420 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984).

While we are bound by *Brown* the *Brown* interpretation is also the most logical one. It results in harmonious reading of the sentencing provisions of the paragraphs (4)(a) (habitual felony offender) and (4)(b) (habitual violent felony offender). It is illogical to assume that the legislature intended to confer sentencing discretion in subparagraphs 775.084(4)(a)(2) and (3) ("a term of years not exceeding 30" and "a term of years not exceeding 10") and throughout paragraph 775.084(4)(b) ("may sentence the habitual violent felony offender as follows") (emphasis added), while eliminating sentencing discretion solely for habitual felony offenders convicted of first degree felonies. There is no reasonable or discernible basis for

such a distinction. See *S.R. v. State*, 346 So.2d 1018, 1019 (Fla. 1977)(interpretation of the word "shall" as a mandatory or discretionary "depends upon the context in which it is found and upon the intent of the legislature as expressed in the statute.").

The interpretation advanced by the State would lead to one other anomaly which should be mentioned. A trial court can opt out of the habitual offender statute "[i]f the court decides that imposition of sentence under this section is not necessary for the protection of the public ...." §775.084(4)(c) (emphasis added). There will undoubtedly be cases in which the trial court concludes that an extended sentence is necessary for protection of the public-but not a life sentence. Under the interpretation advanced by the State, in such a circumstance the sentencing judge would not only be able to impose a guidelines sentence. We do not think the legislature intended to create an all or nothing, life or guidelines choice in the situation.

Id. at 1545 (Footnote omitted).

Upon close scrutiny, the State submits that the Third District's interpretation is not the most logical one and therefore should be rejected by this Court. The Third District erroneously rejected the State's contention that the 1988 and 1989 amendment overruled Brown. It did so simply because the amendments did not address the "shall sentences" of (4)(a). However, this analysis completely misses the point since Brown held that sentences under (4)(a) were not mandatory since the section was implicitly repealed by the sentencing guidelines and

therefore such a sentence could only be imposed under a valid departure from the guidelines. With the 1988 Amendments, habitual offender sentences were no longer controlled by the guidelines and therefore the mandatory sentences of (4)(a) and the new section of (4)(b) could be imposed regardless of the guidelines. Therefore, the fact that the Amendments did not deal with the "shall" sentence is irrelevant to the analysis of the problem.

The Third District rejection of "shall" in (4)(a) as obligatory because it would create an anomalous situation because the "may" in (4)(b) would be permissive, once again lacks a solid foundation. This supposed anomaly disappears quickly once the proper statutory construction for "may" is applied. As stated hereinbefore, "may" is obligatory when viewed in the entire context of the statute and the legislative intent of the amended statute. Therefore when both "shall" of (4)(a) and "may" of (4)(b) are interpreted as obligatory, both sections of the statute are consistent with each other and with the legislative intent of the amendments.

Finally, the Third District rejected the mandatory requirement of (4)(a), by finding that the legislature did not intend to give trial judges varying degrees of discretion under the statute. This position lacks clarity of thought since the legislature clearly meant to give trial judges the discretion to

fashion nonhabitual offender sentences even when the defendant was determined to be a habitual offender. The legislature also sought to divest trial judges of sentencing discretion only after a determination that a habitual offender sentence was to be imposed.