IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAN 21 1992
CLERK, SURREME COURTE

By
Childt Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 79,015

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

LARRY COTTON,

Respondent.

ON APPLICATION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENT

BENNETT H. BRUMMER
Public Defender
11th Judicial Circuit of Florida
1351 N.W. 12th Street
Miami, Florida 33125

CYNTHIA A. GREENFIELD, P.A.
Special Assistant Public Defender
Florida Bar No. 0650552
241 Sevilla Avenue
Sevilla Center Suite 805
Coral Gables, Florida 33134
(305) 446-0100

Counsel for the Respondent

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

The Third District Court of Appeal was correct in ascribing a permissive interpretation to the sentencing portion of Section 775.084(4)(b)(1), Florida Statutes. Subsection (b) of the statute contains the word "may". Subsection (a) is the portion of the statute which contains the word "shall".

This Court has construed both provisions of the statute to be permissive in nature. Neither section has been amended by the Legislature, although other portions of the statute were amended in 1988 and 1989. The lack of action by the Legislature implicitly signals approval of this Court's interpretation.

The State failed to serve written notice upon the Respondent of its intention to seek habitual offender status. The failure to serve written notice requires the Respondent's sentence to be vacated. Additionally, this Court should interpret Section 775.084(3)(b), Florida Statutes, as requiring the Petitioner to notice a defendant as to under which section of the habitual offender statute it will seek to have the defendant sentenced.

The statute under which the Respondent was sentenced is unconstitutional on its face, and therefore, the Respondent must be remanded for re-sentencing.

ARGUMENT

I. THE HABITUAL VIOLENT FELONY OFFENDER STATUTE DOES NOT AUTHORIZE OR MANDATE A TRIAL COURT TO ENHANCE A SENTENCE FOR A FIRST DEGREE FELONY PUNISHABLE BY LIFE IN PRISON.

The question of whether or not Section 775.084 applies to a felony punishable by life has been certified to this Court in Burdick v. State, 584 So.2d 1034 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991)(en banc). This Court has granted review of this issue in Tucker v. State, No. 77,854. The Respondent respectfully suggests that should this Court determine that Section 775.084 does not apply to a felony punishable by life, this Court must remand for re-sentencing.

II. A LIFE SENTENCE IS PERMISSIVE, NOT MANDATORY, UNDER SECTION 775.084(4)(b), FLORIDA STATUTES.

Section 775.084(4)(b), Florida Statutes, provides in pertinent part: (b) The court, in conformity with the procedure established in subsection (3), may sentence the habitual violent felony offender as follows:

1. In the case of a felony of the first degree, for life, and such offender shall not be eligible for release for fifteen years. (emphasis added).

At sentencing, the Petitioner incorrectly informed the trial court that it had no discretion to sentence the Respondent to anything other than a life term with fifteen years minimum mandatory.

In the case at bar, the Petitioner asserted:

That being the case, since the jury found him guilty of first degree felony punishable by life, under statute 775.084 subsection four A, excuse me, four B, the Court in the case of a

felony in the first degree, the Defendant is to be sentenced for life and such offender should not be eligible for release for 15 years.

That is the sentence for violent felony, habitual offender, life with a minimum of 15. No discretion to give him anything other that. (T. 320)

The Petitioner incorrectly asserted that the trial court had no discretion in sentencing the Respondent. It is clear that subsection (4)(b) uses the term "may" with reference to sentencing under this provision. A literal reading of the provision of the statute at issue mandates permissive sentencing. Furthermore, this Court has previously held that the term "shall" in subsection (4)(a) does not require a mandatory life penalty. State v. Brown, 530 So.2d 51, 53 (Fla. 1988). It is clear that sentencing under subsection (4)(b) is also discretionary.

In <u>Brown</u>, this Court analyzed the legislative history of the statute and concluded that the <u>Legislature</u> never intended the word "shall", in subsection (a), to be mandatory. The Court determined that the inclusion of the word "shall" was either an editorial error or a misapprehension of the actual legislative intent by the editors. <u>Id</u>. at 53. This Court stated that it was clear that a life sentence was a permissive maximum penalty. <u>Id</u>.

This Court clarified its position in <u>Brown</u> and unequivocally stated that sentencing under the habitual offender statute is discretionary, <u>not mandatory</u>. <u>Brown</u> at 53. The Petitioner's

¹ It is axiomatic that the statutory revision service cannot rewrite statutes and substitute words used by the legislature. See, McCulley Ford, Inc. v. Calvin, 308 So.2d 189, 193 (Fla. 1st DCA 1974).

reliance on <u>Whitehead</u> and <u>Winters</u> is misplaced in view of this Court's opinion in <u>Brown</u>.

Furthermore, the Legislature specifically addressed a portion of this Court's opinion in <u>Brown</u> in Ch. 88-131, <u>Laws of Fla.</u>, and that amendment to the Habitual Offender Statute did not address this Court's interpretation of the statute as being permissive in nature.

It appears from the record on appeal in the instant case that the trial court accepted the Petitioner's assertion regarding the mandatory character of the penalty, and therefore, this Court must vacate the Respondent's sentence.

In <u>Henry v. State</u>, 581 So.2d 928 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991), the Third District Court of Appeal held that the section of the habitual offender statute indicating that the trial court "shall sentence" a defendant convicted of a first degree felony to a life sentence is permissive, not mandatory. In <u>Henry</u>, the trial court also

sentenced the appellant under the misapprehension that a life sentence was mandatory, not permissive.

In <u>Henry</u>, the appellant was convicted of aggravated assault with a firearm and aggravated battery with a firearm. At sentencing, the appellant was found to be a habitual offender. The State argued that, pursuant to the statute, the trial court was required to sentence the appellant to a life term. The Third District Court of Appeal stated that it appeared from the record that the trial court accepted the State's assertion regarding the mandatory character of the penalty.

The decision in <u>Henry</u> follows the decision of this Court in <u>Brown</u>. The Third District Court of Appeal noted that the Legislature amended the statute after the decision in <u>Brown</u> was announced and the amendments did not address or modify the "shall" sentence portion of the statute. The lack of action by the Legislature is a clear indication of approval of this Court's permissive interpretation of the "shall sentence" portion of the statute.

The Petitioner states that the Third District relied upon Brown, a pre-amendment decision, in deciding Henry, however, it should be noted that the Legislature, in amending the statute after the decision in Brown, did not amend the portion of the statute at issue. This lack of action is not irrelevant, as stated by the Petitioner, but rather signals the approval of the Legislature of this Court's interpretation as announced in Brown.

Initial Brief of the Petitioner at p. 11.

In point of fact, within the amending enactment Ch. 88-131, Laws of Fla., the Legislature created subsection (b), the habitual violent felony offender provision, which states that the "trial court may sentence the habitual violent felony offender as follows...." Section 775.084(4)(b)(1), Florida Statutes Supp. 1988. It would be <u>illogical</u> to conclude that the Legislature intended, by including the term "may", that sentencing under this provision be mandatory.

Applying the Petitioner's rules of statutory construction⁴ to this Court's interpretation of the statute, the Legislature amended the statute after this Court's opinion in <u>Brown</u> was announced and therefore is presumed to be cognizant of judicial construction of the term "shall" and still the Legislature did not amend this portion of the statute. Secondly, if the Legislature intended to accord a new meaning to the portion of the statute at issue, it would have amended said provision.

In <u>Delaney v. State</u>, 190 So.2d 578 (Fla. 1981), this Court more fully enunciated the former principle:

In this state, as in most others, the rule prevails that in reenacting a statute the legislature is presumed to be aware of constructions placed upon it by the highest court of the state, and, in the absence of clear expressions to the contrary, is presumed to have adopted these constructions. Indeed, there is substantial authority for the proposition that such reenactment of the statute bars the court from subsequently changing its earlier construction.

<u>Id.</u> at 581-2. (emphasis added and citations omitted). <u>See also</u>, <u>Walsingham v. State</u>, 250 So.2d 857, 859 (Fla. 1971).

Initial Brief of the Petitioner at p. 12.

It is a fundamental principle of statutory construction that failure by the legislature to amend a statute which has been construed by the Court amounts to legislative approval of the construction rendered by the Court. See, Johnson v. State, 91 So.2d 185, 187 (Fla. 1956)(en banc). The Legislature amended the habitual offender statute after this Court's decision in Brown was announced and did not amend the provision at issue in the instant case. Clearly the Legislature accepted and approved of the Brown decision.

Another principle of statutory construction was enunciated by this Court in <u>Parker v. State</u>, 406 So.2d 1089, 1091 (Fla. 1981). In <u>Parker</u>, this Court chose not to depart from the plain, literal meaning of the statute at issue, however the Court stated, "Such departure is permitted when a literal interpretation would lead to an illogical result or one not intended by the lawmakers." (citations omitted).

In <u>Barnes v. State</u>, 576 So.2d 758 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), the First District Court of Appeal interpreted the previous conviction requirement of the statute. After delineating a detailed examination of the legislative history of this portion of the statute afforded by the court, the court openly went beyond the plain meaning of the statute "in order to carry out the purpose and intent of the statute." <u>Id.</u> at 762. As stated by Judge Zehmer, in a specially concurring opinion:

Absent clear and unambiguous language evidencing legislative intent to change or abrogate these long-standing legal principles governing the application of the habitual offender statute, the courts should refrain

from reinterpreting and repudiating those long-standing principles. That is the function of the legislature, not the courts, for the courts cannot ascertain, nor be certain that the statute was not amended with the expectation of the continued application of these long-standing principles.⁵

Barnes at 765.

The law of Florida requires strict construction of criminal statutes. See, Perkins v. State, 576 So.2d 1310, 1312 (Fla. 1991) and State ex rel Lee v. Buchanan, 191 So.2d 33 (Fla. 1966). If any reasonable doubt exists as to the meaning of a statute, the doubt must be construed in favor of the accused. See, Whalen v. United States, 445 U.S. 684, 100 S.Ct. 1432, 63 L.Ed.2d 715 (1980) and Perkins v. State, 576 So.2d 1310, 1312 (Fla. 1991).

This concept is also embodied in Section 775.021(1), Florida Statutes which states:

The provisions of this Code and the offenses defined by other statutes shall be strictly construed; when language is susceptible of differing constructions, it shall be construed most favorably to the accused.

The Petitioner relies, in part, upon the decision in <u>Donald</u> v. <u>State</u>, 562 So.2d 792 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), wherein the First District Court of Appeal held that the "may" sentence provision in the statute is mandatory, not permissive. The <u>Donald</u> decision is fundamentally flawed in that it did not address this Court's

Judge Zehmer also noted the inconsistent positions taken on the issue by the Office of the Attorney General, a factor also present in the case at bar. In <u>State v. Washington</u>, Case No. 77,626, the Petitioner expressly conceded, in its brief filed with the Third District Court of Appeal, that sentencing under Section 775.084(4)(b)(1) is discretionary in nature. The Petitioner must be held to its previously stated position. See, Answer Brief of the Respondent at p. 8-9.

opinion in <u>Brown</u> and, more importantly, the <u>Donald</u> decision runs counter to this Court's decision in Brown.

The court in <u>Donald</u> stated that its decision was based on the legislative intent underlying the statute, however, the <u>Donald</u> decision did not make any reference to the legislative history of the statute, nor did the court refer to a study of the same. This Court clearly studied the legislative history to discern the legislative intent underlying the statute in order to render its decision in <u>Brown</u>.

It is respectfully submitted that the decision reached in <u>Donald</u> was incorrect and this Court's opinion in <u>Brown</u>, as well as the Third District decision in <u>Henry</u>, correctly analyzed legislative intent and correctly applied the sentencing provisions of the statute in a permissive manner. This Court must affirm the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal and remand for resentencing of the Respondent.

Because the trial court failed to recognize, and thereby failed to exercise its proper discretion, the Third District Court of Appeal was correct in remanding this cause for re-sentencing.

See, Smith v. State, 574 So.2d 1195 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991) (justice requires vacating of life sentence where appellate court uncertain whether or not the trial court believed that it could decline to impose life sentence); Berezovsky v. State, 350 So.2d 80 (Fla. 1977) (where trial court imposed a sentence of 30 years under misapprehension that it was required to do so pursuant to statute, and that probation was not available, sentence reversed and

remanded) and <u>Doe v. State</u>, 499 So.2d 13 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986) (where trial court imposed a five year minimum mandatory drug sentence under misapprehension that it could not reduce the sentence below the sentence recommended by the State, sentence reversed and remanded for re-sentencing).

III. THE PETITIONER FAILED TO MEET THE REQUIREMENT OF SECTION 775.084(3)(b), FLORIDA STATUTES THAT WRITTEN NOTICE TO BE SERVED ON THE DEFENDANT AND HIS ATTORNEY PRIOR TO THE IMPOSITION OF SENTENCE SO AS TO ALLOW THE PREPARATION OF A SUBMISSION ON BEHALF OF THE DEFENDANT.

Upon the conviction of the Respondent, the Petitioner announced its intention to seek an enhanced sentence and filed a notice with the clerk of the court. (R. 16, T. 311). The certificate of service indicates that counsel for the Respondent was served, however there is no indication that the Respondent was served with a copy of the notice. The failure of the State to provide the Respondent with written notice is reversible error. Furthermore, the Respondent is not required to demonstrate harm as a result of the State's failure to provide him with written notice.

In Edwards v. State, 576 So.2d 441 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991), at a plea conference, the appellant was told by the trial court that his failure to appear at sentencing would cause him to be sentenced as a habitual offender. No written notice was provided to the appellant at the plea conference hearing.

The appellant failed to appear as ordered but surrendered himself approximately one week later. During the subsequent hearing, the State provided the appellant with written notice of intent to habitualize. The trial court then sentenced the

appellant to fifty years pursuant to the habitual offender statute. On appeal, the State argued that the appellant was not surprised by the habitual offender classification. The court found that the lack of harm to the defendant was not the proper test to apply and, therefore, the sentence was illegal. <u>Id.</u> at 442. The Fifth District has also found the failure to serve written notice on a defendant to be reversible error.

The purpose of the notice requirement is to allow an individual to prepare a submission on his behalf to ameliorate the possible sentence. A plain reading of the statute requires service on both the defendant and his attorney. In the instant case the Respondent did not receive written notice of the State's intention to seek an enhanced sentence.

See, Sweat v. State, 570 So.2d 1111, 1112 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990) (the record on appeal does not show that advance written notice of the State's intention to seek enhanced sentence was served on the appellant as required by law.) and Nunziata v. State, 561 So.2d 1330, 1331 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990) (this court has recently held that the statute does not require notice to be filed with the court, but only that the notice be served on the defendant and his attorney.) (emphasis in the original). See also, Grubbs v. State, 412 So.2d 27 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982). But see, Brown v. State, 575 So.2d 1360 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991) and Meehan v. State, 16 F.L.W. 3095 (Fla. 1st DCA December 9, 1991).

In <u>Massey v. State</u>, 16 F.L.W. 2765 (Fla. 5th DCA October 31, 1991) (en <u>banc</u>), the State failed to serve written notice upon the

defendant. The State asserted that because the required notice was filed of record and the defendant had actual knowledge of the said notice, the intent of the statute had been met.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal receded from its initial opinion wherein it found that lack of harm to the defendant is not the proper test to apply. On rehearing, the court stated that the State, by affirmatively proving no harm, can bring the technical error of failure to serve the defendant within the purview of the harmless error rule.

A review of the transcript of the sentencing hearing in the instant case reveals that the Respondent was harmed by the failure of the Petitioner to serve him with notice, specifically notice of its intention to seek sentencing under subsection (b).

A. The Petitioner should be required to notify a defendant as to under which provision of the statute it will seek to have the defendant sentenced.

In the instant case, neither the Respondent, nor his attorney, was given notice that he would be sentenced under Section 775.084(4)(b), Florida Statutes. The consequences of a being sentenced as a habitual violent felony offender are much harsher that those under the habitual felony offender provision. As a result of being sentenced pursuant to the former provision, the Respondent was sentenced to a life term with fifteen years minimum mandatory incarceration and loss of gain time. The disparity of sentencing of Sections (4)(a) and (4)(b) necessitates proper notice to a defendant as to under which portion of the statute the State is seeking to have a defendant sentenced.

The statute should be construed as requiring the Petitioner to notify a defendant as to which portion of the statute it will seek to have the defendant sentenced. Because the State is required to notice a defendant prior to the sentencing hearing, the State may be presumed to have determined which portion of the statute it intends to utilize.

Requiring the State to specify subsection (a) or (b) would not burden the State because, as stated above, the State is already required by the statute to notify the defendant, as well as counsel, of its intention to seek habitualization. It would be more efficient for the State to specify which subsection of Section 775.084, Florida Statutes it plans to employ, especially in view of the fact that the Petitioner is already required to prove that the defendant meets the requirements of either section of the statute, and therefore, has obviously already determined which section of the statute it intends to advance as the basis for sentencing.

In addition, such a requirement would better fulfill the underlying intent of the notice requirement which is to allow a defendant to prepare a submission on his or her behalf for sentencing. Because each subsection contains different requirements which must be met before one qualifies for habitualization, it is reasonable to require meaningful notice to the defendant as to which subsection, and its corresponding requirements, the State will seek habitualization.

In the instant case counsel for the Respondent did not prepare such a submission because neither the Respondent, nor counsel, was notified of the State's intention to seek an enhanced sentence under the habitual violent felony offender section. This clearly prejudiced the Respondent. Trial counsel argued:

However, when the State is asking under the habitual violent felony offender, that was never done in the written notice which the statute requires under 885.0836 4-B. (sic)

According to my understanding, it didn't specify that they were seeking a sentence under habitual felony violent offender for which there is a difference in not only the minimum mandatory but in the time served. (R. 321-322).

Trial counsel asked the court to consider the lack of evidence presented by the State and the Respondent's mother's testimony that the Respondent has changed and reformed. (R. 322). Trial counsel also asked the court to sentence the Respondent under subsection (4)(a), as opposed to subsection (4)(b). (R. 322). It is clear that trial counsel was unprepared to respond to sentencing under subsection (4)(b). Had the Respondent and his attorney been notified of the State's intentions, the submission would have addressed the specific requirements of subsection (4)(b).

The Respondent almost did not meet the requirements of this subsection. His previous convictions were either entered on the same date, and therefore count as one conviction (see, Lampley v. State, 583 So.2d 1109 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991); Wesley v. State, 578 So.2d 418 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991) and Goodman v. State, 578 So.2d 11 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), or misdemeanors which do not count as

qualifying convictions. Only an illegal weapon possession charge in Broward County allowed the Respondent to be sentenced as a habitual violent felony offender.

Due to the State's failure to notify the Respondent or his attorney of their intention to seek habitual violent felony offender status, the Respondent was deprived of an opportunity to submit any argument based on these facts. The lack of proper notice clearly prejudiced the Respondent and requires reversal.

IV. SECTION 775.084, FLORIDA STATUTES (1989), AS AMENDED, VIOLATES THE SINGLE SUBJECT RULE OF ARTICLE III, SECTION 6, FLORIDA CONSTITUTION AND IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

The general rule of law in Florida requires an appellant to present an issue to the lower court in order to preserve the issue for review on appeal. There is, however, an exception to this rule in the case of fundamental error. This is especially true where the issue on appeal concerns the facial invalidity of a statute.

Trushin v. State, 425 So.2d 1126, 1129 (Fla. 1982).

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